IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO6-242

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS
Assistant CCRC-South
Florida Bar #0946427

CELESTE BACCHI
Staff Attorney CCRC-South
Florida Bar #0688983

NEAL DUPREE
Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel - South
101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301
Tel (954) 713-1284
Fax (954) 713- 1299

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 2002, this Court in a 4-3 decision narrowly denied Mr. Swafford a new trial based on Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) violations. Four justices found Mr. Swafford's Brady claims to be procedurally barred because his state-provided collateral counsel failed to locate a witness who had not been previously disclosed to Mr. Swafford's trial counsel.¹

Three members of this Court were so troubled by the majority's opinion that they joined in two lengthy dissenting opinions written by Justices Anstead and Quince. Justice Anstead wrote:

This case represents one of those truly rare instances where this Court has summarily brushed aside on wholly speculative grounds **a colorable claim of actual innocence and a possible serious miscarriage of justice.** There has been absolutely no focus here on the reality of what actually happened. Tragically too, the claim arises out of a demonstrated Brady violation where the police and **prosecuting authorities failed to provide the defendant**, as they were constitutionally obligated to do, **with substantial evidence of another person's guilt for the crime for which the defendant has been sentenced to die.**

Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966, 968 (Fla. 2002) [Anstead, J., dissenting] [emphasis added].²

¹This was a per curiam opinion joined by Chief Justice Wells, Justices Shaw and Harding. Justice Lewis concurred in result only.

²Justice Pariente concurred in Justice Anstead's dissenting

Justice Quince wrote separately:

The highly circumstantial evidence produced at trial along with the evidence Swafford claimed in his first [post-conviction] motion was not disclosed by the State concerning other suspects and witnesses, when considered in conjunction with the Lestz affidavit, **would probably produce an acquittal at trial.**

Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d at 985 (Quince, J., dissenting)

[emphasis added].³

This was the backdrop on which Mr. Swafford's request for DNA testing was made. Despite the lower court and the State's attempt to foreclose DNA testing completely, this Court ordered DNA testing.

Thus, the lower court's sole responsibility on remand was to hold an evidentiary hearing to determine which evidence the lower court found to be capable of being tested for DNA, to have reports of the results of that testing generated, and for the lower court to make findings as to contamination, authenticity and other findings it deemed appropriate with regard to the DNA evidence. The lower court failed to follow this Court's mandate.

opinion.

³Justice Anstead and Pariente concurred in Justice Quince's dissenting opinion.

The issue at Mr. Swafford's November, 1985 trial was whether he was the individual who had sexually assaulted and killed Brenda Rucker. The State never revealed that other suspects had been investigated, and it made no suggestion that there was more than one perpetrator.

The evidence against Mr. Swafford was circumstantial. No physical evidence linked Mr. Swafford to the crime other than a .38 caliber pistol found in a trash can at the Shingle Shack, a bar in Daytona Beach. Ballistic analysis showed that this was the murder weapon. However, the testimony linking Mr. Swafford to the .38 was circumstantial and contradictory.

Trial counsel focused on rebutting the State's theory that Mr. Swafford could only have committed these crimes in an hour to an hour and a half. This short time period, the defense argued, was insufficient to have kidnapped the victim, disrobed her, raped her both anally and vaginally, burned her twice with cigarettes, put her clothes back on and then shot her nine times. In fact, police questioned whether Ms. Rucker was even murdered at the scene where her body was found in that no spent bullets were found at that location.

In early October, 1990, police reports concerning law enforcement's 1982 investigation were disclosed for the first

time to collateral counsel. These reports named suspects, James Michael Walsh (Walsh), Walter Levi (Levi) and Michael Lestz (Lestz) as having been the subjects of the police investigation at the time of the crime. The reports implicated Walsh because he was seen one block away from the gas station where Ms. Rucker disappeared, fifteen minutes before she went missing. Walsh was not seen again for over four hours. When he reappeared, he was nervous and sweaty.

The reports also revealed that Walsh had homosexually assaulted Lestz and while doing so, burned him with cigarettes similar to Ms. Rucker's burns (PC-R3. 205). In July, 1982 when confronted with his failure to pass a polygraph test, Lestz denied involvement in the Rucker murder (PC-R4T. 538). He said that on the day of the murder, February 14, 1982, Walsh left Lestz at a laundromat a block away from the gas station where Ms. Rucker worked. Walsh left him at the laundromat at 6 a.m. and took Lestz's car to find some drugs. This was fifteen minutes before Ms. Rucker was kidnapped by a person whose face in a composite drawing "strongly resembled" Mr. Walsh (PC-R4T. 546).

Walsh did not return to the laundromat until after 10:30 a.m. He appeared "[p]retty nervous, sweaty. He was real

hyper." (PC-R4T. 65). He was anxious to dispose of several guns, specifically two .38 caliber pistols. On January 25, 1983, the date of this interview, police knew the murder weapon was a .38 caliber weapon. Lestz's statement was "very similar" to one that Levi had already given.⁴ Yet, the investigation ended there because police "just didn't find [Lestz] credible." (PC-R41. 569). No further investigation of Walsh occurred.⁵

Even though physical evidence was found with Ms. Rucker's body, it produced no evidence linking Mr. Swafford to the crime using the technology available in the 1980s (PC-R5. 38, 63).

This physical evidence included:

1. FDLE report - May 12, 1982 - 4 "light brown to blonde hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair" were collected from a tissue near Ms. Rucker's body (PC-R5. 46). These hairs were suitable for comparison.
2. In the pubic hair sample collected from Ms. Rucker, FDLE found "numerous brown and dark brown hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair [that were] suitable for use as a known hair

⁴Levi told police on August 30, 1982 that at 6 a.m. on February 14, 1982, Lestz arrived at the motel room where Levi and Walsh had been staying. Walsh left with Lestz saying that the pair had "something to do." (PC-R4T. Def. Ex. 7). Levi said the pair did not return until between 11 a.m. and noon.

⁵In 1994, collateral counsel found Lestz, who reported that on the evening of February 14, 1982, he had taken Walsh to the Shingle Shack during the time period that Walsh was trying to get rid of a .38.

sample." (PC-R5. 46).

3. As to a pubic hair combing, FDL E found "[n]umerous brown hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair [that] were suitable for comparison to known hair samples." (PC-R5. 46).
4. As to the questioned hairs collected from the pubic region, the report showed "[n]umerous brown hairs typical of Caucasian pubic hair are contained in this exhibit. These hairs are suitable for comparison purposes pending submission of known hair samples from subject." (PC-R5. 47).
5. Three blonde hair fragments typical of Caucasian scalp hair were found in the victim's blouse and sock that were suitable for comparison (PC-R5. 47).
6. Several hairs typical of Caucasian body hair, in addition to several animal hairs are contained in the debris from the victim's shoes and socks. (PC-R5. 47).

An August 10, 1982 report described Mr. Walsh as 31 years old, 6'1" tall, 165 lbs., blonde hair, blue eyes with a ruddy complexion.

The Be On The Lookout bulletin (BOL O) issued on February 16, 1982 included a composite drawing of the suspect who was described as "late 20's to early 30's, 160-170 lbs., 5'10" to 6'0" tall, Brown hair with Redish tint, Light Brown eyes, Bushy eyebrows, A full Redish tint beard, neatly trimmed with a fair complexion." (PC-R5. 53).

The BOLO and a copy of the composite drawing were found in Walsh's possession at the time of his arrest in Arkansas a month after the Rucker murder.

Mr. Swafford is listed in the criminal complaint on June 27, 1983 as 36 years old, 5'8", 140 lbs., with dark brown hair and brown eyes (PC-R5. 55).

Based on this information, this Court found that there were issues in dispute that could be resolved by DNA testing. See, Court's Order 3/26/04. Mr. Swafford repeatedly sought to prove that he is not the source of seminal fluid in the vaginal and anal swabs taken from Ms. Rucker's body, nor the source of the numerous hairs found on and near her body (and that Ms. Rucker is not the source of those hairs). Mr. Swafford sought through Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 to establish that he did not sexually assault and murder Ms. Rucker.

At first, the State argued that the victim's blood samples had been destroyed in 1986 (PC-R5. 76) and that therefore the vaginal and anal swabs could not be tested because there was no means of establishing a standard for Ms. Rucker.

After this Court issued its remand, the evidence reappeared. Once counsel established the existence of biological evidence to be reviewed, FDLE sent mixed signals on

what could be tested.

At first, FDLE said that there was nothing to test. FDLE intended to send the hair evidence to Mitotyping Technologies, which does mitochondrial DNA testing that is specific to hair and degraded samples.

The State and defense agreed and selected the samples to be tested. After the samples were selected, FDLE changed its position and said if a root existed, then it could be tested with nuclear STR testing (the only kind FDLE could do) for free, instead of paying the \$2,500 per test that Mitotyping Technologies charged. The hair that had follicles intact was tested at FDLE first, while the rest was sent to Mitotyping Technologies.

FDLE's results were baffling. Mr. Swafford requested a hearing to deal with possible contamination and authenticity issues. He also requested his own expert to assist counsel in interpreting what FDLE had done. These requests were both denied by the lower court.

Mr. Swafford argued that:

- FDLE's conclusion that there was a DNA mixture on one of the hair follicles was evidence of possible contamination in either the testing materials or procedures at FDLE (i.e. a hair follicle can only come from the person from whom the hair was collected).

- FDLE's conclusion that there was no presence of acid phosphatase was contrary to the trial testimony that said there was. A hearing was needed on this issue.

- FDLE's inconclusive results on fingernail scrapings and rape kit swabs collected from Ms. Rucker on which biological material was present indicated the need for further testing by an independent laboratory at Mr. Swafford's expense.

These arguments fell on deaf ears.

Mr. Swafford was not afforded any opportunity to depose the FDLE technicians to learn what their conclusions meant, why there was a discrepancy between its acid phosphatase test results between the time of trial and today, or why they found a DNA mixture on a hair follicle when the follicle could only belong to one person. Nor was Mr. Swafford allowed to have his own expert review what FDLE had done or assist the defense in understanding the results.

No testimony of any laboratory personnel was taken, no reports were entered into evidence, and as a result, none of the DNA results, testing methods or procedures are in evidence. Nor has any of this evidence been subjected to the crucible of an adversarial testing.

The lower court erred in failing to follow this Court's mandate to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the authenticity or contamination of the biological evidence and in failing to grant

additional DNA testing, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 (7), in order to get a conclusive result.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Swafford was charged with first-degree murder, sexual battery, and robbery. A jury found Mr. Swafford guilty of first-degree murder and sexual battery, but acquitted him of robbery. Mr. Swafford's conviction for sexual battery was predicated on evidence that acid phosphatase, an enzyme found in large quantities in seminal fluid, was present in rape kit swabs taken from the victim during her autopsy. The jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R. 1661), and the court sentenced Mr. Swafford to death. This Court affirmed the convictions and death sentence. See Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1988).

In 1990, Florida's governor signed a death warrant scheduling Mr. Swafford's execution for November 13, 1990. Mr. Swafford subsequently filed a motion under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 in the lower court, which denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court and filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus. This Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief and denied the habeas corpus petition. See Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264 (Fla.

1990).

Mr. Swafford then filed a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court, which denied relief. Mr. Swafford appealed to the United States Court of Appeal for the Eleventh Circuit. In November 1990, the Eleventh Circuit stayed Mr. Swafford's execution. Proceedings in that court were later held in abeyance while Mr. Swafford pursued other state remedies.

In 1991, Mr. Swafford filed a second petition for a writ of habeas corpus in this Court. Subsequently, this Court denied relief. Swafford v. Singletary, 584 So. 2d 5 (Fla. 1991).

In 1991, Mr. Swafford filed a second Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing, and Mr. Swafford again appealed to this Court. While the appeal was pending, Mr. Swafford asked this Court to relinquish jurisdiction for an evidentiary hearing on the "Howard Pearl" issue regarding trial counsel's status as a deputy sheriff and on whether the lower court judge engaged in *ex parte* communications with the State in denying his Rule 3.850 motions. This Court granted the requested relinquishment.

After an evidentiary hearing on these two issues, the lower court denied relief. Mr. Swafford appealed. This Court

affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. Swafford v. State, 636 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1994).

In 1994, Mr. Swafford filed a third Rule 3.850 motion. The lower court denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Swafford appealed to this Court, which reversed and ordered an evidentiary hearing. Swafford v. State, 679 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996).

In 1997, the lower court held an evidentiary hearing and again denied relief. In 2002, this Court affirmed the denial of Rule 3.850 relief. Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 2002).

On October 9, 2002, Mr. Swafford filed a Motion for DNA Testing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853, in which he requested testing of the available physical evidence with the new technological advances in forensic testing since 1986. He requested STR DNA testing of any serological material available and mitochondrial DNA testing of any hair evidence in existence.

In March, 2003, the State responded that the victim's blood samples drawn during her autopsy in 1986 had been destroyed (PC-R7. 76). As a result, the State argued that STR DNA testing of the vaginal swabs, which still existed, could not be done (PC-R7. 76). Because of the missing blood samples, the State argued

that there was no means of establishing a standard for the victim's DNA (PC-R7. 76). Without this standard, the State contended, there was no way of knowing what DNA was the victim's and what DNA belonged to someone else.

The State also argued that testing the hair evidence was unnecessary since Mr. Swafford's motion "offered nothing but speculation regarding an alternative source [for the DNA] let alone one that exculpates him." (PC-R7. 75). The lower court denied the DNA motion and Mr. Swafford appealed this denial to this Court on September 25, 2003.

On April 11, 2003, Mr. Swafford filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850/3.851 (PC-R6. 13). In this motion, Mr. Swafford raised a claim of newly-discovered evidence based upon recent technological improvements to DNA testing which would prove Mr. Swafford's innocence. Within this claim⁶, Mr. Swafford alleged that the destruction of the blood sample was in bad faith and warranted relief under

⁶Alternatively, Mr. Swafford argued that in light of the new scientific developments in the field of DNA testing and analysis, the standard set forth in Youngblood for establishing a due process violation under both the Florida and/or United States Constitution should be lowered.

Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988).⁷ (PC-R6. 20). Mr. Swafford specifically requested that an evidentiary hearing be conducted on his newly-discovered evidence claim (PC-R6. 25).

On April 29, 2003, the State argued that Mr. Swafford's 3.850 motion should be dismissed on the merits and as untimely filed (PC-R6. 39). On June 5, 2003, the lower court dismissed the 3.850 motion (PC-R6. 46).

On June 20, 2003, Mr. Swafford appealed the denial of his 3.850 motion to this Court. As a result, both the denial of the DNA motion and the Rule 3.850 motion were before this Court.

On March 26, 2004, this Court entered two orders in Mr. Swafford's appeals reversing the lower court (PC-R7. 229, 230). One order reversed the amended order denying DNA testing. The second order reversed the denial of Mr. Swafford's 3.850 motion. This Court granted Mr. Swafford "sixty (60) days from the date of the lower court's order in respect to Rule 3.853 to amend the fourth motion for post-conviction relief as to issues related to DNA testing of evidence."⁸ (PC-R7. 230).

⁷Also included in this motion was a claim that Florida's capital sentencing scheme was unconstitutional per Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002).

⁸This Court did not decide Mr. Swafford's Ring claim in light of its reversal of this court's order denying his 3.850

After the remand, the State revealed on June 11, 2004 for the first time that the victim's blood sample had been found in the Volusia County Clerk's Office, though the sample had not been properly stored or maintained.⁹ (PC-R7. 72).

The lower court ordered that biological evidence capable of STR DNA testing was to be tested by FDLE's Orlando laboratory. The lower court also ordered the hair evidence suitable for mitochondrial DNA testing was to be tested by Mitotyping Technologies in Pennsylvania¹⁰ because FDLE was not capable of such testing.

Also at the June 11, 2004 evidentiary hearing, counsel for Mr. Swafford informed the trial judge that he was prepared to go forward on the issues of authenticity of the forensic evidence and the contamination problems pursuant to this Court's orders (PC-R7. 48, 51, 56). At the suggestion of the State, the trial judge refused to hear testimony on those matters. The trial judge ordered that issues of contamination and authenticity were

motion.

⁹When FDLE conducted STR DNA testing on items capable of STR DNA testing, it identified the victim's DNA from the degraded blood sample.

¹⁰The parties agreed to rely upon the transcript of the proceedings rather than reduce the list of items to be tested to a formal written order.

to be "left for another day, as per the two opinions from the Supreme Court." (PC-R7. 55).

On October 28, 2004, FDLE submitted its findings on the rape kit swabs (oral, anal, and vaginal) and projectiles collected from the victim's body during the autopsy (PC-R7. 262-64). The liquid blood standard had "dried up," and no stain card was able to be produced. The FDLE, however, was able to determine through STR testing that the DNA profile was "consistent with originating from a female individual." (PC-R7. 263). FDLE did not specify in this report exactly what type of analysis it conducted on the oral, anal, and vaginal swabs obtained from the victim. Its only finding as to these items was that "[S]emen was not identified on the above Exhibits." (PC-R7. 263).

On February 21, 2005, FDLE submitted its findings on the items held by Volusia County Sheriff's Office (PC-R7. 265-69). Among FDLE's findings were the following results:

a. *Right and Left Fingernail Scrapings from Brenda Rucker (the victim)* - FDLE was able to obtain a "limited DNA mixture" from this evidence.

b. *White Panties (of the victim)* - FDLE noted chemical indications for the presence of blood. Their analysis failed to give chemical indications for the presence of semen.

c. *White Towel With Flower Pattern*¹¹ - A hair collected from this towel was consistent with a male individual, but did not match Mr. Swafford's DNA profile.

d. *Debris* - Analysis of this exhibit (Q16) gave chemical indications for the presence of blood. No further testing appears to have been conducted.

e. *Various Slide-Mounted Hair Standards* - While several of these were deemed by FDLE to be suitable for STR testing, FDLE had not conducted DNA testing on those items. (Some of these hairs were later tested by FDLE, and those test results were set forth in their July 22, 2005 supplemental report(PC-R7. 537-42).

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