IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROY CLIFTON SWAFFORD,

Appellant,

Case No. SC06-242

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Swafford argues that the circuit court did not comply with this Court's order on remand. This court directed the circuit court to:

(1) Hold an evidentiary hearing to determine which pieces of evidence that appellant moved to have tested are capable of being tested for DNA

(2) The evidence which the Court determines to be capable of being tested is to be tested pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(7).⁶

(3) The results of the tests shall be provided in writing pursuant to rule 3.853(8).⁷

(4) The circuit court shall then enter an order making findings as to whether the evidence which was tested is authentic, has been contaminated, or such other findings in respect to the tested evidence as the circuit court determines to be appropriate.

The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on June 11, 2004, which complied with instruction (1). The evidence was tested and reports by FDLE and MitoTyping Technologies filed

⁶ Rule 3.853(c)(7), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides: (7) The court-ordered DNA testing shall be ordered to be conducted by the Department of Law Enforcement or its designee, as provided by statute. However, the court, on a showing of good cause, may order testing by another laboratory or agency certified by the American Society of Crime Laboratory Directors or the National Forensic Science Training Center when requested by a movant who can bear the cost of such testing.

⁷Rule 3.853(c)(8), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides: (8) The results of the DNA testing ordered by the court shall be provided in writing to the court, the movant, and the prosecuting authority.

written reports, complying with instructions (2) and (3). The circuit court entered an order which complied with instruction (4). Swafford's arguments regarding further evidentiary hearing(s), additional testing, and public records are beyond the scope of remand and should be presented through a Rule 3.851 motion.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT COMPLIED WITH THIS COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS ON REMAND

This Court remanded Case No. SC03-1153 to the circuit court with the following directions:

(1) Hold an evidentiary hearing to determine which pieces of evidence that appellant moved to have tested are capable of being tested for DNA;

(2) The evidence which the Court determines to be capable of being tested is to be tested pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(7);⁸

(3) The results of the tests shall be provided in writing pursuant to rule 3.853(8);⁹

(4) The circuit court shall then enter an order making findings as to whether the evidence which was tested is authentic, has been contaminated, or such other findings in respect to the tested evidence as the circuit court determines to be appropriate.

(Vol. 3, R230).

The circuit court complied with each of these directives. Step 1: An evidentiary hearing was held June 11, 2004, to

⁸ Rule 3.853(c)(7), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides: (7) The court-ordered DNA testing shall be ordered to be conducted by the Department of Law Enforcement or its designee, as provided by statute. However, the court, on a showing of good cause, may order testing by another laboratory or agency certified by the American Society of Crime Laboratory Directors or the National Forensic Science Training Center when requested by a movant who can bear the cost of such testing.

⁹Rule 3.853(c)(8), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides: (8) The results of the DNA testing ordered by the court shall be provided in writing to the court, the movant, and the prosecuting authority.

determine which pieces of evidence that appellant moved to have tested were capable of being tested for DNA. Step 2: The evidence that was capable of being tested was tested by FDLE or MitoTyping. In fact, defense counsel was on site at FDLE and selected the items he wanted sent to MitoTyping and the items he wanted tested by FDLE. Step 3: Written reports from FDLE and MitoTyping were filed with the court. Step 4: The circuit court entered an order making the appropriate findings. That order stated:

ORDER FOLLOWING REMAND ON DNA ISSUES

THIS MATTER having been remanded to the Circuit Court by order of the Florida Supreme Court in Case No. SC03-931 dated March 26, 2004, and the Circuit Court having held an evidentiary hearing on June 11, 2004, and status conferences on March 11, 2005, June 27, 2005, October 6, 2005 and January 6, 2006, the Circuit Court, having reviewed the record and pleadings and being fully advised in the premises, it is therefore ordered:

1. This Court has complied with the directions on remand from the Florida Supreme Court as follows:

(A) An evidentiary hearing addressing the issues on remand from the Florida Supreme Court was held June 11, 2004. At that hearing, Harry Hopkins, crime lab supervisor for Florida Department of Law Enforcement (AFDLE@), advised the Court as to which pieces of evidence that Defendant moved to have tested were capable of being tested for DNA. At this hearing, this Court ordered numerous items be submitted to FDLE for DNA testing, including evidence held by the Volusia County Sheriff=s Office (AVCSO@) and the Clerk=s Office for the Seventh Judicial Circuit (AClerk=s Office@).

(B) On October 28, 2004, FDLE submitted its written findings on the biological evidence submitted by the Clerk=s Office.

(C) On February 21, 2005, FDLE provided a written report of findings on the items held by VCSO.

(D) Defendant requested mitochondrial DNA This Court entered an Order On testing. March 15, 2005, allowing attorneys for both Defendant and the State to view the evidence listed in the FDLE report dated February 21, Defendant was ordered to designate 2005. any evidence he wished to have tested. Evidence susceptible of STR testing would remain at FDLE-Orlando, and FDLE was ordered to conduct STR testing on that evidence. Evidence which could not be STR tested and that defense counsel elected to have tested for mitochondrial DNA, would be sent to MitoTyping Technologies in State College, Pennsylvania.

(E) MitoTyping Technologies prepared a written report dated July 20, 2005.

(F) FDLE provided a supplemental written report on July 22, 2005.

(G) On September 25, 2005, Defendant moved to re-release one hair from evidence at VCSO and send it back to MitoTyping Technologies. That was accomplished, and MitoTyping Technologies sent a supplemental written report dated November 18, 2005, which replaced the original report dated July 20, 2005.

(I) In addition to the above testing and reporting, Defendant requested additional

DNA testing by Forensic Science Associates, a private DNA lab in Richmond, California. That motion was denied by order dated March 15, 2005.

2. This Court finds that all requirements listed in the remand order from the Florida Supreme Court dated March 26, 2004, in Case No. 03-931, have been completed. This Court held an evidentiary hearing as directed. The evidence capable of being tested was tested pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853(7). The results of all testing were provided in writing.

3. During remand, Defendant orally raised the subject of **A**contamination@ or mixing of samples at the FDLE laboratory. This Court agrees with the arguments made by the State regarding the scope of remand. This Court has complied with the remand order from the Florida Supreme Court, and any issue that Swafford wishes to raise beyond that remand should be raised in an amended motion for post-conviction relief.

4. Defendant shall have sixty (60) days from the date of this order to amend the fourth motion for postconviction relief as to issues related to DNA testing of evidence, as provided in the supreme court order dated March 24, 2004, in Case No. SC03-1153.

(Vol. 4, R587-90).

Swafford now argues the circuit court did not comply with this Court's order on remand. His complaints fall in three categories:

(1) Evidentiary hearing.

The trial court held an evidentiary, as directed by this Court, "to determine which pieces of evidence that appellant moved to have tested are capable of being tested for DNA." (Vol. 3, R230). Swafford now argues the circuit court did not comply with this Court's order because it did not hold an evidentiary hearing on the significance of the DNA testing. This case was on remand for almost two years. During this time, Swafford filed motions which were outside the scope of remand. He requested additional testing, public records, and re-released evidence to MitoTyping which he had told MitoTyping not to test. The State and circuit court accommodated every request even though it was clearly outside the scope of remand. See Duckett v. State, 918 So. 2d 224, 239 (Fla. 2005). What Swafford fails to recognize is that Rule 3.853 is a discovery tool and Rule 3.851 is the basis to request relief and place before the judge any information discovered through the Rule 3.853 proceedings that might require an evidentiary hearing. See Duckett, 918 So. 2d at 239.

Swafford also takes issue with the State's understanding of this Court's use of the word "contamination." (Initial Brief at 29). This word first appeared in the State's response to the Motion for DNA Testing.¹⁰

5. The State submits that the scene where Rucker's body was found was at least as unsecure and subject to **contamination** as the one in the Amos Lee King case, wherein the Florida Supreme Court upheld a trial court

¹⁰ By separate motion, the State has requested this court take judicial notice of the record on appeal in Case No. SC03-931, the case which this Court remanded for DNA testing and which was the predecessor of this appeal. Cites to that record will be "JN-R" for "judicially noticed record." Since there is only one volume in that record, there will be no cite to volume number.

finding that there was no reasonable probability that DNA testing of a fragment of body hair recovered from the murder victim's nightgown would result in an acquittal or a life sentence for King. King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237 (2002) at 1247. Swafford has asserted no basis for this Court to conclude that hairs found on Rucker's outer garments and on debris found near her body at this unsecure and littered scene on public more than twenty four hours after land her disappearance would be probative of Swafford's guilt or innocence in this case, or that DNA testing of these hairs would mitigate the sentence imposed. (Emphasis supplied).

(JN-R74).

The circuit court used "contaminate" in his original order on DNA testing in the same manner as the State, meaning contamination of the crime scene:

(B) The results of DNA testing of the physical evidence would likely not be admissible at trial. Although the evidence was initially obtained by law enforcement during its investigation and has been in the custody of government agencies since that time, the risk of contamination is substantial. Cf King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 2002). The victim's body was not located until the following day.' It was in a wooded area, off of a dirt road. The area was frequented by all-terrain vehicles and was used for beer parties. For these reasons this Court finds that the proof is unreliable to establish that the evidence containing the DNA is authentic and would be admissible at a future hearing.

Also unreliable are the vaginal and anal swabs. Not only have they been in the possession of the clerk as evidence for almost 20 years, there is no semen present in the samples collected. Rather, only acid phosphatase, a component of seminal fluid, is present. (Emphasis supplied).

(JN-R83). As indicated in Swafford's Initial Brief, the State's

understanding of the word "contamination" meant contamination of the crime scene, not contamination at the FDLE lab (Initial Brief at 29, Vol. 2, R209). The original cite in the State's Response to DNA Testing was to "contamination" in the sense the crime scene was contaminated in *King v. State*, 808 So. 2d 1237,

1247 (Fla. 2002):

Many other fire and police personnel were at the scene. This hair fragment could have been transferred from any one's hair that was on Mrs. Brady's floor as she crawled from her bedroom to the back door, from any one's hair that was on her porch area where she expired, from any one's hair that was on the ground outside her house where she was dragged away from the fire, from the perpetrator of the rape and murder, from one of the men who dragged her away from the burning house, from the medical examiner, from one of those who identified her, from any other fire or police personnel present, or from Mrs. Brady. Thus, even if this fragment of a body hair could be further re-tested for DNA, and it was determined that it didn't come from Mrs. Brady, or from Mr. King, this court cannot make the required finding under the statute or the rule, that there exists a reasonable probability that the defendant would be acquitted, or that he would receive a life sentence if the requested re-testing were allowed. Fla. Stat. § 925.11(2)(f)3; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 (c)(5)(C).

Likewise, in Hitchcock v. State, 866 So. 2d 23, 26 (Fla. 2004),

the crime scene had been compromised:

In its response, the State argued that Hitchcock's motion failed to set out the evidentiary value of the evidence proposed to be tested and how such testing would exonerate or mitigate the sentence. The State specifically noted that James Hitchcock, Richard Hitchcock, and the victim all occupied the same household. The State asserted that "it is therefore likely that biological samples such as hair, sloughed off skin, small amounts of bodily fluids, eyelashes, and finger and toe nail clippings would constantly be inadvertently deposited by all three persons throughout the house and curtilage they shared." . . . However, the motion fails to set forth the evidentiary

value of the evidence to be tested or explain how the results would exonerate Defendant or mitigate his sentence. Defendant alleges that DNA testing "may show that Richard Hitchcock strangled the victim, that his hair was present at the crime scene, that his blood was present at the scene, or that there was other forensic evidence." (Defendant's motion, page 6, emphasis added.) Such a speculative claim cannot support the granting of postconviction DNA testing. Moreover, Defendant, his brother, and the victim occupied the same house, and all three would have deposited hair, skin, bodily fluid, eyelashes, and nail clippings throughout the house.

Mr. Nunnelley, also the attorney for the State in *Hitchcock*, advised the judge that "contamination" as used in the State's response in this case was used in the sense of contamination of the crime scene (Vol. 2, R219). Swafford was arguing that "contamination" meant contamination at the FDLE lab, i.e., a "mixture." (Vol. 2, R208). The State also argued that Swafford was mutating a Rule 3.853 motion into a Rule 3.851 motion and any issues beyond the remand should be raised in a Rule 3.851 motion (Vol. 2, R218). The trial court agreed with this argument which is supported by the record in Case No. 03-931, the case that was remanded to the trial court.

(2) The trial court should have held an evidentiary hearing

on issues revealed during the DNA testing. As argued by the State above and at the January 6, 2006, hearing and as held by the circuit court, these issues are beyond the scope of remand and should be the subject of a Rule 3.851 motion. Further, the aspersions cast upon FDLE are unfounded, and the citing of nonrecord, unpublished decisions never presented to the circuit court is inappropriate. (Initial Brief at 39). Not only is the information cited in the Initial Brief not in the record on appeal in this case, it is not identified as being from any case. (Initial Brief at 39-40).

(3) <u>Swafford is entitled to additional testing by a non-</u> <u>certified lab</u>. Swafford filed a Motion for Additional Testing by a non-certified lab after the first two rounds of FDLE testing¹¹ (Vol. 2, R285-416). On March 5, 2005, defense counsel filed a Motion to Permit Additional DNA Testing (Vol. 3, R285-416). The State filed a response on March 9, 2005, objecting to testing by a non-accredited laboratory in violation of Rule 3.853(c)(7), Fla.R.Crim.P. (Vol. 3, R273). The lab which Swafford requested, Forensic Science Associates, is not an accredited lab (Vol. 3, R273).

A hearing was held March 11, 2005 (Vol. 2, R145-175). The

¹¹ FDLE conducted three rounds of testing: November 2, 2004 report, February 21, 2005 report, and July 22, 2005 report.

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